FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 6/20/2019 9:25 AM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/20/2019 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Motion for Extension of Time pending

97359-8

NO. 77871-4-1

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION ONE

SIMEON J. OSBORN and MONICA OSBORN, And the marital community composed thereof,

Respondent,

V.

MICHAEL CALLAHAN and ROBIN CALLAHAN Individually, and the marital community composed thereof,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

The Honorable Veronica Alicea-Galvan, Judge

APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW BY SUPREME COURT

Michael Callahan Pro Se

IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner: Michael Callahan, Esq., Pro Se Appellant below

CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner requests review of the Court of Appeals' order filed on March 18, 2019 in appellate Case No. 77871-4-1 wherein his appeal was denied, as well as review of the order denying Petitioner's Motion for Reconsideration filed on May 20, 2019.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether a party to an arbitration is entitled to an arbitration hearing with the attendant due process rights of notice, the ability to present evidence and to cross-examine witnesses.
- 2. Whether a party to arbitration is entitled to an evidentiary hearing in the Superior Court being asked to confirm/vacate the arbitration award when it is alleged that the settlement reached in mediation and confirmed in arbitration (without a hearing) was based upon a fraud committed in discovery in the underlying case and included releases never discussed or agreed to for "unknown" and "unasserted" claims.
- 3. Whether a fraud committed in discovery, only learned of **after** a settlement was reached based upon that fraud, can be used as the basis to overturn a settlement in mediation or an award in arbitration even though it is not evident on the face of the Award.
- 4. Whether a Court must vacate an arbitration award where it is uncontroverted that broad releases for "unknown" and "unasserted" claims were added into the Award where the CR2a provided for only a settlement of the claims made in the pending litigation and where it is uncontroverted that further/broader releases were never even discussed.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Attorney Osborn filed suit for sums he alleged were owed from business dealings with his client, Callahan. Callahan counterclaimed for offsets and for the Osborn's theft of three specific pieces of artwork Osborn had taken during his representation of Callahan from a much larger inventory of art owned by Callahan. During discovery Osborn was asked about <u>all</u> transactions and admitted only to having the three pieces of art – but nothing else. (CP 66) The lawsuit was submitted to mediation and a settlement was reached *covering only the claims in the lawsuit*, all as set forth in a CR2A. (CP 217 and 137)

Days after the mediation, while Osborn's counsel was preparing further settlement documents, Callahan learned that Osborn had stolen two additional pieces of art not disclosed in discovery. Callahan thus refused to sign the Confession of Judgment because it contained much broader releases than just the claims in the lawsuit (as agreed to in the CR2A) – namely, releases of unasserted or unknown claims — so Osborn submitted the matter to arbitration with the same mediator. (CP 125, 137) The material issue of whether there was a settlement of additional "unknown" or "unasserted" claims in the mediation was clearly a factual dispute that required an evidentiary hearing under the law.

The Arbitrator immediately called for a telephonic "pre-hearing" conference and at that time ordered the parties to simultaneously submit "3-5 page letters" setting forth the issues. Two days after receipt, *without a hearing*, without the chance to submit evidence, cross-examine witnesses or even an opportunity to respond to the other side's unsworn "letter", the arbitrator issued an Award. Over Callahan's objection, the

Superior Court confirmed the Award *without an evidentiary hearing*. This appeal followed and the Court of Appeals affirmed, based upon an erroneously narrow standard of review, limited to the face of the Award. Callahan filed a timely Motion for Reconsideration which was denied on May 20, 2019 without setting forth a reason.

ARGUMENT

- **A. Reasons Review is Requested.** Petitioner asks that review be accepted for each and any of the following reasons:
- The decision of the Court of Appeals, which allowed an Arbitration Award to be confirmed without an evidentiary hearing in arbitration or in the Superior Court, is in conflict with the statutes governing arbitration and in conflict with Washington case law that mandates basic due process in arbitration. See for example *Conard v. University of Washington*, 62 Wash. App. 664, 814 P.2d 1242 (1991), reversed on other grounds, 119 Wn.2d 519, 834 P.2d 17 (1992)
- 2) A significant question of law arises under the Washington State and U.S. constitutions when basic due process is denied in arbitration and then in the Superior Court confirming the award, because a party has no opportunity to present evidence or cross examine witnesses where that party is denied an evidentiary hearing at both stages. 5th and 14th Amendments to the U.S Constitution and Article 1, Section 3 of the Washington State Constitution.
- 3) Confidence in the arbitration process is founded upon the belief that a litigant will still receive basic due process, including the right to present evidence and cross examine witnesses. This is of substantial public interest because the arbitration process plays an important role in reducing the volume of cases in the courts and few would opt for arbitration without such basic guarantees.
- 4) The Superior Court's affirmation of an "Award" that included blanket releases of claims not submitted to mediation and thus not settled in mediation, violates Washington law, case law, and the due process clauses of the constitutions of the United States and Washington State. Not allowing such an injustice by applying a standard that restricts review to the "face of the Award" is of substantial public interest because there is a statute enacted which requires modification or correction of such an Award. If the Award is not modified or corrected the public will lose confidence in the arbitration system that relieves such a burden on the Courts.

B. The Lack of Any Hearing Violated Washington Statutes and Case Law

The settlement reached in mediation was based upon a fraud committed by attorney Osborn in the discovery process wherein he failed to disclose his theft of two additional pieces of art belonging to Callahan, his client. Because the theft was not discovered until after the mediation concluded, Callahan needed a forum to conduct discovery, present evidence and cross-examine witnesses to show that the settlement was entered into based upon Osborn's fraud. With no hearing conducted at all by the Arbitrator and no evidentiary hearing allowed in the Superior Court, the question must be asked: where was Callahan's chance to bring this fraud to light and have due process?

The arbitration statutes (cited infra) clearly contemplate due process in an arbitration hearing, but *no such hearing was held*. Thereafter, under RCW 7.04A.230(1) and 7.04.160, an evidentiary hearing should have occurred in the Superior Court, but Callahan was denied that basic due process as well. On appeal, the review was then erroneously limited to the face of the Award, which, of course, did not refer to the fraud because there had been no hearing or other sworn testimony to present evidence of that fraud

What was done procedurally in "arbitration" was improper and not supported by any statute. Instead of having a hearing, the Arbitrator requested a short, telephone "prehearing conference" and ordered 3-5 page letters be simultaneously submitted by each side to identify the issues. (CP 97) Based upon this request, Callahan contemplated that an actual hearing would then follow due to the fact that:

- a) a *hearing* should follow a "*pre-hearing* conference"
- b) when "letters describing the issues" were requested to be submitted *simultaneously*, it was not logical that such letters would substitute for an actual hearing because:
 - i) the Arbitrator did not say so; and

- ii) because they were limited in length to 3-5 pages; and
- because the order was to describe the issues, not present all of the evidence (in 3-5 pages) or brief the law; and
- iv) because due process could not be had by such a procedure
 - with no opportunity to present evidence/witnesses; and
 - no opportunity to cross-examine and challenge the statements of the other side's "letter" or even conduct discovery. (Because Osborn's letter made false statements, the right to cross examine him to challenge his falsehoods was critical.)

The record reflects that Callahan had received only an email requesting a "pre-hearing conference call" from the Mediator's assistant. (CP 97)¹ It was at that pre-hearing call that the Mediator gave the parties a week to each submit a "3-5 page letter" describing the issues (as they were never raised in any form before the call), not submit evidence or fully brief the law. Nor did the Arbitrator advise that he would be ruling on just those unsworn letters. Callahan contemplated not only a hearing but some notice about the remaining procedure once the Arbitrator understood what the issues were that had arisen after mediation.

Without further contact, and **instead of holding a hearing, the Arbitrator immediately issued an "Arbitration Award."** This eliminated due process because there was no opportunity to present evidence or for the parties to respond or rebut the others' <u>simultaneous</u> submission. (CP 97) The Award did not address the improprieties cited by Callahan and ignored his claim of Osborn's fraudulent discovery responses that induced the settlement. (CP 97) At no time since Callahan was fraudulently induced to

¹ "On September 22, 2017 I received an email that only said:

^{&#}x27;Judge Hilyer (ret) has requested a pre-hearing conference call in the above- referenced arbitration next week. He has the following availability next week: Thursday, September 28th at 12:00 (noon); or Friday, September 29th at 12:30pm. Please respond with your availability for the pre-hearing conference call in this case." (CP 97)

settle in mediation has he had a chance to conduct discovery, submit evidence or cross-examine witnesses about the stolen art and false, sworn statements in discovery. (CP 97) Nor was he afforded the opportunity in the Superior Court to have an evidentiary hearing which would have revealed these falsehoods or the fact that the mediated settlement was limited to the claims in the lawsuit and did not include the release of "unknown" or "unasserted" claims -- something that was never discussed in mediation and is not in the CR2a settlement agreement. The significance of the added releases is that Osborn would be released from liability for his theft of the two additional pieces of art belonging to his client.

To be clear, the two opposing "letters" submitted were <u>not</u> under oath and included no evidence. (CP 133) Just two days after receiving the "letters" the Arbitrator issued his written Award without a hearing, without sworn testimony, and without a chance to even object to the procedure, because it was never explained.

The Arbitrator's surprise procedure triggered RCW 7.04A.230(1)(c) which requires ("shall") the Superior Court to vacate an award if an arbitrator "refused to consider evidence material to the controversy or otherwise conducted the hearing contrary to RCW 7.04A.150..." Clearly, this statute contemplates that there be an arbitration "hearing" or, in the only statutory alternative, some procedure is agreed upon by the parties – thus giving the parties a chance to object. Even with this clear statutory instruction, neither a hearing or an agreement were present in this matter. Since no notice was given that there would be no hearing to follow the pre-hearing conference, there was no chance for Callahan to object. Inherently, the erroneous procedure employed by the Arbitrator and sanctioned by the Superior Court was based on a "refusal"

to consider evidence material to the controversy." However, relief should also have been afforded Callahan under *RCW* 7.04A.240 where an award **must** be corrected or modified if:

- (1) Upon motion filed within ninety days after the movant receives notice of the award . . . the court *shall modify or correct* the award if:...
- (b) The arbitrator has *made an award on a claim not submitted to the arbitrator* and the award may be corrected without affecting the merits of the decision upon the claims submitted; or
- (c) The award is imperfect in a matter of form not affecting the merits of the decision on the claims submitted.

In this case the Award covered "unknown" and "unasserted" claims not submitted to mediation, not in the CR2a settlement agreement, and never even discussed at the mediation. The Superior Court should have modified or corrected the Award as Osborn did not even controvert Callahan's declaration that these releases were never even discussed at the mediation.

This Court of Appeals held that "The statute Callahan cites, RCW 7.04A.150, does not require an evidentiary hearing." (It did not make the distinction of whether *any* hearing was required, but clearly none was held, evidentiary or otherwise, which would have allowed Callahan to rebut Osborn's simultaneous, unsworn "letter" in arbitration.) Because the arbitration statutes clearly contemplate some opportunity to present evidence, and such approach is confirmed in the Superior Court's remedial statute (cited *supra*, requiring the vacation of an award if the arbitrator "refused to consider evidence") the Court of Appeals simply got this one wrong.

The Court of Appeals error was based upon its reading of RCW 7.04A.150(1) entitled "Arbitration process", which states in relevant part that:

The arbitrator may conduct the arbitration in such manner as the arbitrator considers appropriate so as to aid in the fair and expeditious disposition of

the proceeding."

But a hearing is clearly contemplated as part of the "proceeding" because the statute further states:

The authority conferred upon the arbitrator includes the power to hold conferences with the parties to the arbitration proceeding *before the hearing* and to determine the admissibility, relevance, materiality, and weight of any evidence.

Despite this statutory mandate, no hearing was held and no conference was held with the parties to even discuss the evidence, and then no opportunity was given to submit evidence.

It is logical that if the legislature did not intend for there to be a hearing, then they would not have provided for the "summary disposition of a claim or particular issue" only under explicit conditions – the primary one being the "agreement of all interested parties..." (See RCW 7.04A.150(2)) In the case at bar that agreement was not asked for or obtained.

The statute is also clear that in the absence of such an agreement, *RCW* 7.04A.150(3) requires that "[t]he arbitrator shall set a time and place for a hearing..." and yet the arbitrator here failed to do so.

RCW 7.04A.150(4) then describes the due process that Callahan was deprived of by the improper summary disposition: "the parties to the arbitration proceeding are entitled to be heard, to present evidence material to the controversy, and to cross-examine witnesses...." The procedures employed by the Arbitrator did not afford Callahan the basic due process to which he was entitled by this statute. This due process is guaranteed to the parties to the arbitration "proceeding", not just parties to an arbitration "hearing." Again, this is evident in the fact that RCW 7.04A.150(1), supra,

makes it clear that a "hearing" is just part of the "proceeding"

The net effect of the Court of Appeals' interpretation of the arbitration process statute is that an Arbitrator can decide a matter without a hearing and without an agreement for summary disposition by the parties. Worse, this means that the due process safeguards of the statute are only in effect **if** there is a hearing or an agreement for summary disposition.

Petitioner Callahan respectfully requested that the Court of Appeals reconsider its ruling because the safeguards of the statute they cite (and the statute itself) would be unnecessary and superfluous under that interpretation. The legislature installed these safeguards to encourage a fair and equitable arbitration process that litigants would willingly employ and this Court has affirmed these safeguards in the case law cited infra. The Court of Appeals decision is contrary to this case law. If all an arbitrator needs to do is **not** have a hearing and summarily issue an award that says so little that no error of law can be found on its face, then none of the legislated safeguards mean anything and there is nothing a party can do about it.

In *Conard v. University of Washington*, 62 Wash. App. 664, 814 P.2d 1242 (1991), reversed on other grounds, 119 Wn.2d 519, 834 P.2d 17 (1992), the Court explored the essential elements of procedural due process:

The next question is how much process is due. [Citations omitted] We must balance competing interests of an efficient and reasonable administrative process with the *[respondent's] right to a meaningful hearing*. [Citation omitted] *Clearly, at least notice and an opportunity to be heard are required*. In addition, the [respondent] must be given a written copy of any information on which the . . . recommendation is based *in time to prepare to address that information at the hearing*. The [respondent] should be given the opportunity *to present and rebut evidence*, and the hearing must be conducted by an objective decision maker. (*emphasis added*)

Without these minimum safeguards, any process is meaningless and Callahan was not given the process that was due and called for by statute and case law. The impact of such a ruling could be devastating to the public's confidence in the arbitration system, one that relieves an enormous burden on the courts just in terms of the reduction of the number of cases. Simply, who would leave the court system in favor of a process that does not guarantee basic due process? The answer: very few litigants, if any.

C. The Court Below Employed an Incorrect Standard of Review Relative to the Hearing Process

An appellate court's role "in reviewing an arbitration award is to ensure that the hearing process comports with the broad contours of procedural fairness. To this end, the court is directed to consider narrowly circumscribed allegations of misconduct." *Seattle Packaging Corp. v. Barnard*, 94 Wn. App. 481, 487, 972 P.2d 577 (1999). Specifically, that review "is confined to the question of whether any of the statutory grounds for vacation exist." *Salewski v. Pilchuck Veterinary Hosp., Inc., P.S.*, 189 Wn. App. 898, 903-04, 359 P.3d 884 (2015) (quoting *Cummins v. Budget Tank Removal & Envtl. Servs., LLC*, 163 Wn. App. 379, 388, 260 P.3d 220 (2011)), *review denied*, 185 Wn.2d 1006 (2016). RCW 7.04A.230(1), sets out the grounds on which a court shall vacate an award:

- (a) The award was procured by corruption, fraud, or other undue means;
- (b) There was:
 - (i) Evident partiality by an arbitrator appointed as neutral;
 - (ii) Corruption by an arbitrator; or
 - (iii) Misconduct by an arbitrator prejudicing the rights of a party to the arbitration proceeding;
- (c) An arbitrator refused to postpone the hearing upon showing of sufficient cause for postponement, refused to consider evidence material to the controversy, or otherwise conducted the hearing contrary to RCW 7.04A.150, so as to prejudice substantially the rights of a party to the arbitration proceeding;
- (d) An arbitrator exceeded the arbitrator's powers;

- (e) There was no agreement to arbitrate, unless the person participated in the arbitration proceeding without raising the objection under RCW 7.04A.150(3) not later than the commencement of the arbitration hearing; or
- (f) The arbitration was conducted without proper notice of the initiation of an arbitration as required in RCW 7.04A.090 so as to prejudice substantially the rights of a party to the arbitration proceeding.

An appellate court reviewing the decisions below must apply the "same standard applicable in the court which confirmed, vacated, modified or corrected that award." *Salewski*, 189 Wn. App. at 903. Despite the applicable statutes and prior case law, the Court of Appeals looked only to the face of the Award and ruled that Callahan was not entitled to a hearing at any stage.

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