FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/12/2019 1:02 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 9-7359-8

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Cause No. 77871-4-I

SIMEON J. OSBORN and MONICA OSBORN, and the marital community composed thereof,

Plaintiffs/Respondents,

V.

MICHAEL CALLAHAN and ROBIN CALLAHAN, individually and the marital community composed thereof,

Defendants/Appellants.

## ON APPEAL FROM DIVISION I, COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

SMYTH & MASON, PLLC Jeffrey A. Smyth, WSBA #6291 Shaunta M. Knibb, WSBA #27688 1000 Second Avenue, Suite 3000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 621-7100

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

- (1) Upon motion of a party to the arbitration proceeding, the court shall vacate an award if:
  - (a) The award was procured by corruption, fraud, or other undue means;
  - (b) There was:
    - i. Evident partiality by an arbitrator appointed as a neutral;
    - ii. Corruption by an arbitrator;
    - iii. Misconduct by an arbitrator prejudicing the rights of a party to the arbitration proceeding;
  - (c) An arbitrator refused to postpone the hearing upon showing of sufficient cause for postponement; refused

to consider evidence material to the controversy, or otherwise conducted the hearing contrary to RCW 7.04A.150, so as to prejudice substantially the rights of a party to the arbitration proceeding;

(d) An arbitrator exceeded the arbitrator's powers; . . . .

The party seeking to vacate an arbitration award bears the burden of showing that the statutory grounds have been satisfied. Cummings v. Budget Tank Removal & Environmental Services, LLC, 163 Wn. App. 379, 388 (2011).

Appellate review of an arbitrator's award is limited to the same standard. Salewski v. Pilchuck Veterinary Hosp., Inc., 189 Wn. App. 898, 903 (2015). Judicial review thus "is confined to the question of whether any of the statutory grounds for vacation exist." Salewski, 189 Wn. App. at 903-904 (quoting Cummings, 163 Wn. App. at 388).

Callahan has made a variety of arguments regarding the arbitration process, what occurred at the mediation, and in discovery in the underlying dispute. The essence of these claims is that the arbitrator exceeded his powers. To vacate an award on this ground, the error must appear "on the face of the award." <u>Salewski</u>, 189 Wn. App. at 904 (quoting <u>Federated Servs. Ins. Co. v. Personal Representative of Estate of Norberg</u>, 101 Wn. App. 119, 123 (2000)). This is a very narrow ground for review in keeping with the policy of finality underlying arbitrations:

The "facial legal error standard is a very narrow ground for vacating an arbitral award." It does not extend to a potential legal error that depends on the consideration of the specific evidence offered or to an indirect sufficiency of the evidence challenge. Courts are not permitted to conduct a trial de novo when reviewing the award, they "do not look to the merits of the case, and they do not reexamine evidence." "The error should be recognizable from the language of the award, as, for instance, where the arbitrator identifies a portion of the award as punitive damages in a jurisdiction that does not allow punitive damages."

Salewski, 189 Wn. App. at 904 (citations and footnotes omitted).

Callahan has not identified any error on the face of the award. Instead, he insists that judicial review includes looking beyond the award to evidence related to what he was told at mediation and what he learned or did not learn during discovery. This is contrary to existing law and does not provide a proper basis on which this Court should grant review.

## 1. Allegations of Fraud Do Not Change the Limited Judicial Review of Arbitration Awards

Given the limited judicial review available to a claim that an arbitrator exceeded his or her powers, Callahan attempts to cast his claim as one involving fraud in the procurement of the arbitrator award. He then tacks onto this argument that in such instances he was entitled to a full evidentiary hearing at arbitration.

This argument is not supportable. First, the "fraud" allegation is not about the arbitration award itself; rather, it concerns the settlement –

that Callahan did not know about the artwork issue until after settlement (despite the allegations in his initial Answer).

Second, the facial legal review standard applies to this ground for vacation as illustrated by Seattle Packaging Corp. v. Barnard, 94 Wn. App. 481, 972 P.2d 577 (1999). There, the court, applying former RCW 7.04.160, was asked to determine whether perjury during an arbitration hearing constitutes fraud. The court adopted the following three part test applied by federal courts when interpreting Section 10 of the Federal Arbitration Act (9 U.S.C. § 10), which also provides for vacation of an arbitral award produced by fraud:

For an alleged fraud, including perjury, to constitute grounds for vacatur, the moving party must establish the existence of fraud by clear and convincing evidence; the fraud must not have been discoverable upon the exercise of due diligence before the close of the arbitration hearing; and the moving party must demonstrate that the fraud materially related to an issue of consequence in the arbitration.

Barnard, 94 Wn. App. at 487 (citing Bonar v. Dean Witter Reynolds, Inc., 835 F.2d 1378, 1383 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1988)). Although the court in Barnard reviewed some of the evidence of perjury over concerns that the arbitration panel did not reopen the arbitration to "hear" the "new" evidence, it still applied the facial legal error test. <u>Id.</u> at 488-89, 494. The court ultimately found that the movants were "unable to demonstrate <u>from</u>

the face of the award that the arbitrators placed any weight whatsoever on the challenged testimony. The amount of the award reflects that the arbitrators may very well have rejected the allegedly perjured testimony, . . ." Id. at 494 (emphasis added).

Callahan has not satisfied this test, much less established fraud in the procurement of the arbitration award by clear and convincing evidence. He also was not prevented from raising issues relating to the artwork, and in fact did so, both in the mediation and arbitration. See CP 37, 39-41, 264 (paras. 2 & 6). In this respect the facts of Barnard differ from the evidence here.

Likewise, unlike <u>Barnard</u>, here the arbitrator was fully advised by Callahan of this factual dispute and Callahan's position was considered. CP 37-41, 153-163. The arbitration award itself speaks of "artwork" in general and not in terms individual pictures, and concludes that the mediation subsumed all claims relative to artwork as a whole. CP 263-264. In sum, Callahan has not shown that the arbitration award itself was procured by fraud, which is the statutory requirement for judicial review.

## 2. Splitting of Causes of Action Is Prohibited.

Ignoring his defense of offset, Callahan argues that the artwork claim was not part of the underlying lawsuit and therefore was not settled.

The artwork, however, is referenced in the Answer to Amended Complaint and Counterclaims, which was filed *twice* by Callahan (see CP 7, 11, 204, 212). And, while for unknown reasons, it was not included in the Amended Answer, the affirmative defense of offset remained. That defense was settled along with all other claims and defenses when Callahan signed the CR 2A agreement.

Splitting of causes of action is prohibited under Washington law:

"This court from early years has dismissed a subsequent action on the basis that the relief sought could have and should have been determined in a prior action. The theory on which dismissal is granted is variously referred to as res judicata or splitting causes of action."

Schoeman v. New York Life Ins. Co., 106 Wn.2d 855, 859 (1986). Any counterclaims that Callahan had against Osborn concerning artwork had to be raised in the Answer or were waived. See Civil Rule 8 (matters "constituting an avoidance" must be pleaded); Civil Rule 13(a) (compulsory counterclaims). He cannot settle those claims and then revive them in another lawsuit.

## B. No Requirement for a Full Evidentiary Hearing.

The Court of Appeals correctly observed that RCW 7.04A.150 does not require the full evidentiary hearing that Callahan demands. Op. at 8. Moreover, Callahan did not request a hearing, and the record

establishes that the parties anticipated that the arbitrator would rule upon receipt of the parties' submissions. CP 134-135; CP 153-163.

The arbitration procedure followed in this instance was consistent with RCW 7.04A.150, which authorizes the arbitrator to "conduct the arbitration in such a manner as the arbitrator considers appropriate so as to aid in the fair and expeditious disposition of the proceeding." In the unique context present here where the arbitrator was also the mediator of a consummated CR 2A settlement agreement, it is "fair" to assume that the arbitrator carries with him or her into the arbitration intimate knowledge of the facts and arguments of all parties to the dispute. This includes concessions such as those made by Mr. Callahan during the negotiation process. To ignore this reality is to exalt form over substance.

The arbitrator knew about and understood Callahan's position regarding allegedly stolen artwork as is evidenced by his findings in the arbitration and Callahan's submittal to the arbitrator. The issue here is whether that decision would have been different if during the mediation the arbitrator had known that there were six paintings instead of four.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Petitioners' reliance on <u>Davidson v. Henson</u>, 135 Wn.2d 112 (1998), and <u>Boyd v. Davis</u>, 127 Wn.2d 256 (1995), for the proposition that the *current* arbitration act, Chapter 7.04A RCW, requires a hearing is misplaced. Both decisions were decided under statutes which have been repealed.

Callahan's argument that the subsequent discovery of two additional paintings mandates a "full evidentiary hearing" reexamining the nature and scope of the CR 2A settlement agreement makes no sense and he has made no showing as to how any other evidence or testimony could have aided the arbitrator in his decision.

Callahan asks this Court to draw a distinction between the "prehearing" that Judge Hilyer convened and the "full evidentiary hearing" Callahan demands. Callahan argues that if there is a "pre-hearing" then perforce there must be a subsequent evidentiary hearing. In the present context, this is a distinction without a difference. Callahan clearly treated his submittal to the arbitrator as his evidentiary presentation. He set forth his entire case in detail. CP 37-49, 153-163. The only distinction between what Callahan submitted to the arbitrator and a formal evidentiary presentation is the absence of a sworn declaration on the last page. That distinction, in this unique context, cannot justify reversal of the Court of Appeals opinion and vacation of the arbitration award.

### C. There Was No Violation of Due Process

Arbitrations are a creature of contract between the parties. As a result, it is not expected or anticipated that the technical strictures imposed

by court rules and the like will always be followed. This was aptly noted by this Court in Barnett v. Hicks, 119 Wn.2d 151 (1992):

Arbitration can be casually structured. Tombs v. Northwest Airlines, Inc., 83 Wn.2d 157, 161, 516 P.2d 1028 (1973) (arbitrators are not expected or required to always follow the strict and technical rules of law); Thorgaard Plumbing & Heating Co. v. County of King, 71 Wn.2d 126, 132, [\*156] 426 P.2d 828 (1967) (arbitration depends for its existence and for its jurisdiction upon the parties having contracted to submit to it, and upon the arbitration statute); Northern State Constr. Co. v. Banchero, 63 Wn.2d 245, 248, 386 P.2d 625 (1963) (although arbitration is in the nature of a judicial inquiry, the standards of judicial conduct and efficiency to which arbitrators are held are markedly different from those imposed on judicial officers).

\* \* \* \*

The very purpose of arbitration is to avoid the courts insofar as the resolution of the dispute is concerned. Thorgaard, at 131. The object is to avoid what some feel to be the formalities, the delay, the expense and vexation of ordinary litigation. Thorgaard, at 132. Immediate settlement of controversies by arbitration removes the necessity of waiting out a crowded court docket. Comment, The 1943 Washington Arbitration Act, 22 Wash. L. Rev. 117, 118 (1947).

Barnett, 119 Wn.2d at 151, 155-56, 160. The case cited by Callahan, Conard v. Univ. of Wash., 62 Wn. App 664 (1991), is factually distinguishable and does not stand for the proposition that a right to a hearing exists in every instance. Rather, it involves a loss of a government entitlement based on conduct of a student-athlete. It does not involve

arbitration or a settlement of a claim, leaving only enforcement of the settlement as the issue before the arbitrator, as is the case here.

In this respect, Callahan's argument displays a fundamental misunderstanding about due process. Due Process does not grant parties an inherent right to present argument or oral testimony and it does "does not require any particular form or procedure." Rivers v. Conference of Mason Contractors, 145 Wn.2d 674, 697 (2002); In re Dependency of R.L., 123 Wn. App. 215, 222 (2004); Hanson v. Shim, 87 Wn. App. 538, 551 (1997). The only requirement is that a party receive proper notice and an opportunity to present his or her position. Rivers, 145 Wn.2d at 697.

Callahan presented his position to the arbitrator and the arbitrator considered it. CP 153-163, 263-264. Given the nature of the dispute, Callahan's defense of offset asserted in the underlying lawsuit, and the nature of the arbitrator's unique knowledge of the mediation, the process invoked by the arbitrator (to which neither party objected) is all that due process required. Callahan's due process allegations simply do not provide a basis for vacation of the arbitration award.

## D. An Evidentiary Hearing Was Not Required Before the Superior Court Ruled on the Motion to Vacate

Callahan argues that the superior court should have held an evidentiary hearing before ruling on the motion to vacate. In doing so, he

relies on case law concerning enforcement of a settlement agreement. This is misguided. Callahan could have, but did not request an evidentiary hearing, which constitutes waiver. Enforcement of the CR 2A agreement was also not the issue before the court. Rather, the only issue before the court was whether to confirm or vacate the arbitration award, which review as discussed above, is limited to the statutory grounds set forth in RCW 7.04A.230.

Seattle Packaging Corp. v. Barnard, 94 Wn. App. 481 (1999), cited by Petitioner, does not support a contrary result. Barnard was decided under former RCW 7.04.160, which provided for notice and hearing before vacating an arbitration order. The current chapter 7.04A RCW does not require a hearing, and in any case, Callahan was given the opportunity to appear and argue before the court.

## E. This Appeal Does Not Involve an Issue of Substantial Public Interest or a Significant Question of Constitutional Law

Arbitration is a private dispute mechanism. It is not intended or expected to include all the safeguards and procedures available in a court of law. It is often used to gain a final decision swiftly and with less expense. Yet, Callahan claims the arbitral process will lose public support if a full evidentiary hearing is not held in each arbitration. Plainly this ignores what arbitration is and what our legislature has deemed necessary

to safeguard the arbitral process by its adoption of Chapter 7.04A, RCW. In other words, a recognition of judicial deference toward arbitral awards by narrowly limiting review of arbitration awards.

What Callahan advocates is a change to that law that will undermine arbitration's policy of finality and the efficacy of arbitration itself. S&S Constr., Inc. v. ADC Props., LLC, 151 Wn. App. 247, 254 (2009) (Washington public policy strongly favors the finality of arbitration awards). This is not the proper forum for that change. If Callahan seeks to amend or rescind Chapter 7.04A, RCW, he must do so through the Legislature. In short, the petition does not present an issue of substantial public interest or raise a significant question of constitutional law, and should be denied.

#### F. Respondents Are Entitled to an Award of Attorney Fees

Osborn preserved the right to an award of attorney fees in the Court of Appeals and was denominated the prevailing party. Op. at 9. Osborn submitted an Affidavit for Attorney's Fees on March 28, 2019, premised on RCW 7.04A.250(3). The court denied the application without explanation. Pursuant to RAP 18.1(j) and the authority cited above, this Court should award Osborn attorney fees in answering the Petition for Review and reverse the denial of their fee application before

the Court of Appeals.

## V. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

The Petition for Review was untimely and does not satisfy the requirements of RAP 13.4(b). This Court should deny review and award respondents their fees in answering the petition.

Dated this 12<sup>th</sup> day of August, 2019.

SMYTH & MASON, PLLC

Jeff Synyth, WSBA #

Shaunta M. Knibb, WSBA #27688

Attorneys for Respondents

#### **DECLARATION OF SERVICE**

Heidi Brown under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of Washington states and declares as follows:

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